
 

 
Page 1 of 9 

Walworth County Board Finance Committee 

  MEETING MINUTES 

Thursday, September 22, 2011 

 

Walworth County Government Center 

County Board Room 114 

100 West Walworth, Elkhorn, WI  

 

The meeting was called to order by Chair Russell at 9:33 a.m. 

 

Roll call — Finance Committee members present included Supervisors Jerry Grant, Daniel Kil-

kenny, Nancy Russell, Joseph Schaefer, and Rick Stacey.  A quorum was declared. 

 

Board members present:  There were no additional County Board Supervisors present.    

 

County staff present:  David Bretl-County Administration/Corporation Counsel; Nicki Andersen, 

Stacie Johnson, Jessica Lanser-Finance; Kim Bushey-County Clerk; Crystal Zarnstorff-District 

Attorney; Linda Seemeyer-Health & Human Services; Suzi Hagstrom-Human Resources; John 

Orr-Information Technology; Bernie Janiszewski-Lakeland Health Care Center; Tracy Moate-

Lakeland School; Michael Cotter, Lou Olson-Land Use & Resource Management; Shane Craw-

ford, Peggy Watson-Public Works; Connie Woolever-Register of Deeds; Kathy Du Bois-

Treasurer’s Office. 

 

Public in attendance: Jeff Davison, Kenosha, WI; Kristen Hewitt, Lakeshores Library System; 

Kathy Seeberg, Walworth County Visitors Bureau; Brad Viegut, Robert W. Baird & Company. 

 

Agenda withdrawals — There were no agenda withdrawals.   Supervisors Schaefer and 

Grant moved to approve the agenda; carried 5-0.   

 

Approval of minutes of last meeting(s) — August 18, 2011 —Supervisors Stacey and 

Schaefer moved to approve the meeting minutes; carried 5-0. 

 

Public comment period — Jeff Davison would like to address the committee with regard to 

Item 9B3, sale(s) of tax foreclosure properties.  Bretl asked that he wait until we reach that point 

on the agenda.  

 

Special order of business 

 

Discussion and possible action regarding Qualified Energy Conservation Bond (QECB) Pro-

gram — Bretl said the State of Wisconsin asked if we would be willing to give up our allocation 

of these bonds, which, heretofore, we have not used.  Brad Viegut, from Robert W. Baird, the 

county’s financial advisory firm, explained that QECB is a bonding program established by the 

Federal Government to encourage green projects.  Under the program, each county in the State, 

along with municipalities having populations  greater than 100,000, receive a proportion of the 

State’s total share that they receive from the Federal Government.  The proportion was based on a 

proration of the population.  Walworth County’s allocation is just over $1 million.  Viegut cau-

tioned that this is not money coming from the Federal Government.  The program simply gives the 

County authority to issue bonds and provides a subsidy on our interest payments.  If we were to 

DRAFT 



Walworth County Board 
Finance Committee Meeting Minutes September 22, 2011 
 

 
Page 2 of 9 

issue QECBs, we would still go through our regular bond issuance process and carry the bond ob-

ligation on our books.  The subsidy is similar to the Build America Bonds (BAB) program.  In 

some instances, 100% of the interest could be reimbursed by the feds.  The formula is complex so 

we wouldn’t know the interest amount due until very close to when we would issue the bonds.  

With the county’s borrowing typically being 10 years or less, Viegut thought we might get close to 

a 0% interest rate.  The county would still be responsible for bond issuance fees.  This would have 

to be a standalone borrowing and could not be combined with future county financing. 

 

Only certain projects would qualify for this financing.  They would have to be projects designed 

to reduce energy consumption, renewable resources or qualified facilities such as solar, irriga-

tion, hydropower facilities. We would be required to demonstrate that actual savings, of at least a 

20% improvement in efficiency, were realized from the project.   

 

This program does not appear to have a set expiration date, according to Viegut, which doesn’t 

mean that the feds won’t decide to pull it at some point.  The State of Wisconsin is asking Wal-

worth County to give our allocation back to the State because they have other issuers who are in-

terested in this program.  In today’s interest rate environment, Viegut feels we would be at break-

even or only a slight advantage. 

 

The program applies to any municipality or school district in the county. Viegut said the County 

may allocate back to a school district or municipality but doing so requires County Board action.  

Bretl added that, while we are contemplating replacement of the HHS boiler, we have money in 

the budget for that project and can save ourselves issuance costs.  Before deciding whether to 

release our allocation to the State, he recommended contacting the various municipalities in the 

county to determine whether any of them could make use of the allocation if it were transferred 

to them.  Supervisors Kilkenny and Stacey moved to notify Walworth County municipali-

ties of the existence of this potential bonding and inquire if they may be interested in ac-

quiring a portion of the County’s allocation.  Russell recommended also notifying the State 

that Walworth County is not interested in releasing its allocation at this time.  Kilkenny 

and Stacey agreed to the additional language.  Motion carried 5-0. 

 

Discussion and possible action regarding Walworth County Financing Plan — Viegut stated 

that prepayment opportunities are available on some of the County’s notes.  Issues from the 2003 

notes are scheduled to mature in 2012 and 2013.  The 2004 and 2005 notes will become callable 

beginning April 1, 2012 for their remaining maturities.  When considering refinancing opportuni-

ties, Baird staff looked at interest rates and call dates.  The interest rates for which the county is 

locked in are very low.  The further away from the call date, the less efficient refinancing be-

comes.  There are efficiencies which can result from calling a portion of the 2003 bonds and the 

remaining maturities from the 2004 and 2005 bonds.  The 2003 bond issue that matures in 2013 

is callable at any time.  Once the County Board authorizes the call, we would make the interest 

payment that is due on April 1 and, after that, there would be no further payments on this obliga-

tion.  To do that, we would set aside $1,255,076.39.  

 

The 2004 and 2005 notes first become callable on April 1, 2012.  Staff aren’t asking for formal 

action on those notes at this time, just on the 2003 notes.  If we proceed with this plan, the 2013-

2015 maturities could be called on April 1, 2012 along with the principal due on April 1, 2012 

and interest payments.  That would mean $6,560,350 would be due on April 1, 2012.  With that 



Walworth County Board 
Finance Committee Meeting Minutes September 22, 2011 
 

 
Page 3 of 9 

payment, the 2003, 2004 and 2005 notes would be completely paid off.  Andersen commented 

that calling the 2004 and 2005 notes will be done in fiscal 2012.  The only bond we are calling in 

2011 is the 2003 issue.  Viegut stated that the county’s net existing debt service would drop from 

$57.2 million to $50.9 million after the calls.   

 

Resolution **-10/11 Resolution Authorizing the Partial Redemption of General Obligation 

Promissory Notes, Dated November 1, 2003 — Supervisors Kilkenny and Grant moved to 

approve the resolution authorizing the partial redemption of the 2003 general obligation 

promissory notes; carried 5-0.  

 

2012 Budget 
 

Summary presentation of the 2012 county administrator’s budget — Bretl noted that this 

part of the budget process takes the county administrator’s budget and makes it the County 

Board’s preliminary budget.  The public hearing will be held on November 1.  He recom-

mended consideration of the appeals and then a motion on the overall budget. 

 

Appeals to the 2012 county administrator’s budget 
 

Human Resources Committee recommendations — Russell stated there were no ap-

peals to the personnel budget.  Bretl added that proposed staffing changes have been in-

corporated into the 2010 county administrator’s budget.  He recommended that the com-

mittee proceed to consideration of the public works and operating budget appeals. 

 

Public Works Committee recommendations — Appeal A: Offset $80,000 loss in 

2012 Maintenance Allocation revenue by reducing DPW State maintenance expend-

itures and elimination of CTH O box culvert capital project request — Crawford 

said staff received notification from the State regarding an $80,000 decrease in the Rou-

tine Maintenance Agreement (RMA).  In addition, the County Highway O bridge requires 

repair sooner than anticipated.  Appeal A addresses both issues.  Supervisors Schaefer 

and Stacey moved and seconded approval of Appeal A; carried 5-0. 

 

The proposed 2012 budget is under the allowable levy by $220,000, according to Bretl, 

which equates to a 0.14% increase in the tax levy.  The library levy increased over 6%.  

This levy is not uniform throughout the county.  He did not feel compelled to reduce 

county operating expenses or programs to offset that increase.  In general, the library plan 

was already approved and the levy is based on 2010 actuals.   

 

Bretl cautioned that we will be dealing with a freeze again in 2013.  We benefitted from 

pension contributions this year only.  We pledged to keep payroll at or below the 2010 

levy for the 2011 budget amount, which we have accomplished. Andersen explained that 

staying $220,000 under the cap will affect future budgets because the new base will be 

based upon what the Board adopts this year for fiscal 2012.   Bretl said some counties re-

acted last year to the proposed freeze by levying for the maximum amount, under the the-

ory they should start at the highest possible base.  There is middle ground between max-

ing out and being prudent and planning ahead.  He would not suggest cutting our levy 

much more.  The committee asked how the levy would be affected if we add the 



Walworth County Board 
Finance Committee Meeting Minutes September 22, 2011 
 

 
Page 4 of 9 

$220,000 back into the budget.  Johnson said it would increase to 1.28%.  Russell feels 

the decision should be made by the full Board.  Supervisor Grant moved to add the 

$220,000 to the 2012 budget.  Supervisor Kilkenny seconded for purposes of discus-

sion.  Motion failed 1-4 with Supervisor Grant voting aye. 

 

All other budget appeals — Appeal B: Reduce Walworth County Economic Devel-

opment Alliance (WCEDA) budget appropriation to $25,900 and reduce Walworth 

County Visitor’s Bureau budget appropriation to $67,400 — Supervisor Kilkenny 

moved to approve Appeal B.  Supervisor Russell seconded the motion for discussion 

purposes.  Although he is not against economic development or businesses, Kilkenny 

does not believe the proper role of government is to subsidize private groups.  They 

should be self-funded.  He does not feel we get a sufficient rate of return for our subsidiz-

ing WCEDA and the Visitors Bureau.  Grant voiced opposition to the appeal. The mo-

tion to approve Appeal B failed 4-1, with Supervisor Kilkenny voting aye. 

 

Recommendation of the 2012 county preliminary budget — Bretl commented that 

there is a short turnaround to finalize the budget.  Supervisors will have an opportunity to 

make further budget amendments in November.  Supervisors Schaefer and Grant 

moved/seconded approving the 2012 County Preliminary Budget; carried 4-1 with 

Supervisor Kilkenny voting no.   

 

Unfinished business  

 

Resolution 49-09/11 Approving and Authorizing Submission of an Application to the 

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development for Section 108 Loan Guaran-

tee Assistance — Bretl said the attorney working with the developer is trying to obtain as-

surance from the State of Wisconsin with respect to the county’s obligation in the event of 

default.  As the response is pending from the State, staff recommend laying over this 

agenda item to the October meeting.  Supervisors Schaefer/Stacey recommended laying 

over the resolution to the October Finance Committee meeting; carried 5-0.  
 

Consent items — Russell asked that budget amendments PW007 regarding the public works 

diesel fuel and SH004 regarding windows/doors at the Huber facility be pulled for separate dis-

cussion.  She also requested that bids on tax foreclosure properties be considered separately.  

Supervisors Stacey and Kilkenny moved to approve the remainder of the consent items; 

carried 5-0.   
 

 Budget amendments   

 

Children with Disabilities Education Board (CDEB) 

 SC04 — Transfer funds for contracted services to cover vacant positions  

Health & Human Services 

 HS005 — Redistribute payroll budget to cover increased workload in WIC 

Nutritional Education  

 HS006 — Offset increased number of SSI assisted burials  

Public Works (DPW) 

 PW006 — Transfer funds for CTH O box culvert replacement  



Walworth County Board 
Finance Committee Meeting Minutes September 22, 2011 
 

 
Page 5 of 9 

 PW007 — Transfer funds for diesel fuel — Russell asked why DPW is not 

transferring the full amount needed for diesel fuel.  Crawford stated that they 

still have sufficient budget available to offset some of the expense.  Supervi-

sors Schaefer/Stacey moved to approve PW007; carried 5-0. 
Sheriff’s Office 

 SH004 — Replace/upgrade doors and windows in Huber Dorm — Bretl said 

this 2011 budget item plays a part in our 2012 budget with regard to putting 

more Hubers on electronic monitoring.  As a result, we need different security 

in a portion of the jail.  $150,000 was set aside for alternative programming.  

If this budget amendment is approved, there would be $70,000 remaining, and 

we would use about $50,000 for the consultant.  Supervisors 

Schaefer/Stacey moved to approve; carried 5-0. 
 SH005 — Replace radiator on Huber emergency generator  

 

Bids/contracts 

 

 Hospice services for Lakeland Health Care Center — By previous motion, the 

proposal was awarded to Odyssey Hospice, Season Hospice & Palliative Care 

of WI, Inc., and Hospice Advantage. 
 

 Actuarial Services for finance department — By previous motion, the proposal 

was awarded to Actuarial & Health Care Solutions, LLC. 
 

 Award sale(s) of tax foreclosure property — Crawford reminded the committee 

that this is the first sale of these properties so the bidder has to meet the appraised 

value and has to be a qualified bidder. There are 28 properties remaining for 

which we did not receive bids. 

 

 Parcel JLCB 00271 — The highest qualified bid of $580 was submitted by 

Rebecca & Jeffrey Blazejewski.  Supervisors Schaefer/Stacey moved to ac-

cept the bid; carried 5-0. 
 

 Parcel JLCB 00531 — The highest qualified bid of $330 was submitted by 

RCE, Ltd – M.J.Remec.  Supervisors Stacey/Schaefer moved to accept the 

bid; carried 5-0. 
 

 Parcel JLCB 00532 — Crawford noted that the higher of the 2 bids was dis-

qualified because a personal check was submitted.  The rules clearly state how 

the bids should be submitted.  Staff recommend sale to RCE, Ltd. – M.J. 

Remec, the highest qualified bidder.  Their bid was $280.00.  Supervisors 

Stacey/Grant moved to accept the bid; carried 5-0. 
 

 Parcel JLCB 02798 — Staff recommend sale to Barabra Tomko who submit-

ted a bid of $1,200.  Crawford explained that Tomko originally submitted a 

personal check.  When there is only one bidder on a parcel, we give them 24 

hours to submit via an appropriate payment method because it is in the coun-

ty’s best interests to get these properties off our books and back onto the tax 



Walworth County Board 
Finance Committee Meeting Minutes September 22, 2011 
 

 
Page 6 of 9 

rolls.  Supervisors Schafer/Grant moved to accept Tomko’s bid.  Motion 

carried 5-0. 
 

 Parcel JLCB 02811 — The highest qualified bid of $2,022 was submitted by 

Robert or Dawn Meyers.  Supervisors Stacey/Grant moved to accept the 

bid; carried 5-0. 
 

 Parcel JSH  00154 — The high bid of $1,005 from J. Becker Investment Ltd 

partnership was the only qualified one.  Supervisors Schaefer/Stacey move 

to accept the bid.  Motion carried 5-0. 
 

 Parcel JSH  00155 — The qualified high bid of $17,505 was submitted by J. 

Becker Investment Ltd Partnership.  Supervisors Grant/Stacey moved to ac-

cept the bid; carried 5-0. 
 

 Parcel GI  00502 —  The qualified high bid of $453 was submitted by Joseph 

Tully & Karen Sakash.  Supervisors Schaefer/Kilkenny moved to accept 

the bid; carried 5-0. 
 

 Parcel GNLS 00123 — The qualified high bid of $351 was submitted by 

Dennis & Jeaneen Fryat.  Supervisors Stacey/Grant moved to accept the 

bid; carried 5-0. 
 

 Parcel DCH  00019 — Publishers paper Sales, LLC submitted the qualified 

high bid of $42,502.  Supervisors Schaefer/Stacey moved to accept the bid.  

Motion carried 5-0. 
 

Parcel XWUP 00078  — Jeff Davison, an attorney from Kenosha, asked to ad-

dress the committee regarding Parcel XWUP 00078, which did not receive a bid.  

The property is his family’s homestead. His brother and sister, the current home-

owners, received it by inheritance. He deeded his portion to them.  Davison was 

not aware of the delinquent taxes until recently.  He would like to propose an al-

ternative to the foreclosure sale.  He asked that the county stipulate to vacate the 

judgment and allow him a period of time to pay the delinquent taxes and related 

costs incurred by the county. The amount owed is approximately $11,000 and it 

will take him a little time to obtain the funds.   

 

Grant asked if we might run into a problem by delaying action on this property for 

30 days.  Cotter commented that the City of Delavan is interested in bidding on 

the property.  Russell asked what action the county ordinances would allow us to 

take in this situation.  Her preference is that delinquent taxes and fees be paid in 

full before the next sale.  Davison said he would pay the first 2 years’ worth of de-

linquent taxes now as a measure of good faith.  Andersen asked that the commit-

tee’s action ensure that taxes and fees are paid, and the tax records reflect private 

ownership, before the end of the year.  Bretl said he hasn’t found documentation 

stipulating that parcels must be advertised every 30 days.  He recommended omit-

ting the property from the next sale book, which would allow Davison 60 days to 



Walworth County Board 
Finance Committee Meeting Minutes September 22, 2011 
 

 
Page 7 of 9 

redeem the parcel.   Cotter said he hasn’t reviewed the Statutes but, at other times, 

we pulled parcels from a sale or, more often, delayed taking title or judgment.  He 

will need to contact the City of Delavan and let them know the property may be 

redeemed.  Bretl asked Davison if he could make full payment within 60 days.  

Davison agreed, adding that if he can get it done in less time, he will.  Supervi-

sors Kilkenny/Grant moved to advertise Parcel XWUP 00078 for sale or bid 

in 60 days to allow redemption of the parcel, and notify the city of Delavan 

that it is likely the parcel may be redeemed; carried 5-0. 

 

New business 

 

Discussion and possible action regarding Walworth County Visitors Bureau request for 

county audit — Andersen stated that our ordinance requires the Committee to allow county staff 

to conduct the audit for a certain group of our community groups that have a donation level simi-

lar to the Visitors Bureau.  They initially asked for an additional $2,000 appropriation from the 

county to offset the cost of an outside audit.  We have offered county staff to conduct the audit.  

Supervisors Grant/Schaefer moved to approve the Visitors Bureau’s request for county staff 

to perform the audit; carried 5-0.   
 

Resolution **-10/11 Authorizing General Fund Use of Unassigned Fund Balance/ Net Assets 

to Replace the Health and Human Services Center Boilers and HVAC System — Crawford 

said there was significant failure with one of the boilers last year.  We obtained estimates for a 

simple boiler system which is just one component of the total HVAC system.  Further analysis by 

a third-party expert was solicited to determine if that would solve our heating/cooling concerns in 

the building.  We went from $300-400,000 to replace the boiler system up to approximately $2 

million to fix the entire HVAC system.  This project was included on the Public Works Commit-

tee’s September 19
th

 agenda.  They asked for further information.  Crawford and Seemeyer both 

commented that the temperature in the HHS building varies widely from one area to another.  The 

current system, installed in the 1970’s, is supplemented by personal space heaters.  In some areas, 

the temperature is over 80 degrees while in others, staff are wearing coats and gloves.  There are 

also leaks from the ceiling which may be from the pipes.  Crawford asked that the Finance Com-

mittee lay over this agenda item to the October meeting so Public Works can provide a recom-

mendation with regard to the overall project.  Supervisor Schaefer moved to lay over the reso-

lution to the October Finance Committee meeting.  Schaefer asked whether boilers vs a fur-

nace would be more effective.  For this type of building, according to Crawford, boilers were rec-

ommended. There is a tipping point with regard to square footage where boilers make more sense 

than a furnace.  Crawford stated that a tremendous amount of construction will be necessary 

which we can’t do in the winter.  We have to ensure that one boiler is functioning at all times.  

Supervisor Stacey seconded the motion to lay over the resolution; carried 5-0. 

 

Resolution **-10/11 Authorizing 2011 International Sign Truck #93 to be Declared Surplus 

and Authorizing Staff to Dispose of the Asset in the Manner Most Advantageous to the 

County — Supervisor Schaefer moved to approve the resolution; Stacey seconded.  Craw-

ford stated that the sign truck which was burned in the fire had a value high enough to require 

that the Finance Committee declare it surplus, pursuant to county ordinance.  Andersen said our 

insurance carrier did quite a bit of investigation into the source of the fire and whether or not it 



Walworth County Board 
Finance Committee Meeting Minutes September 22, 2011 
 

 
Page 8 of 9 

was a problem with the truck or the company that wired it.  They were unable to make a deter-

mination and are unable to subrogate.  Motion to approve the resolution carried 5-0. 

 

Ordinance **-10/11 Amending Section 30-262(c) of the Walworth County Code of Ordi-

nances Relating to Surplus Property — Bretl noted that this ordinance is tied in with the sign 

truck.  The process allows us to dispose of surplus property.  Andersen is authorized to declare 

totaled property surplus if the estimated value is $50,000 or less.  That limit was initially set to 

bring settlements to the attention of the Board when they were large enough.  However, that may 

be an unnecessary step.  He suggested removing the dollar amount and allowing Andersen to de-

clare property surplus.  However, he would like to see a quarterly report identifying all damage 

to county property, most likely submitted to the Public Works Committee, so we have a sense of 

what is being damaged.  Supervisors Kilkenny and Stacey moved/seconded approval of the 

ordinance.  Russell asked why the reporting function was removed.  Andersen said that, in most 

cases where significant dollars are concerned, Crawford has already reported to the Public Works 

Committee and would have submitted a budget amendment to use the insurance proceeds to pur-

chase a replacement.  Motion carried 5-0. 

 

Reports 

 

 Quarterly sales tax report — Andersen hopes to end fiscal 2011 with revenues close to 

our budgeted amount.  She added that we budgeted the same amount for 2012.  

 

 Update on tax incremental financing (TIF) district(s) 

 Village of Walworth Tax Incremental District #1 — Lanser said the Village of Wal-

worth is creating a new TIF, their first.  The organizational meeting was last week.  

She has a number of concerns with the project and is asking for the committee’s rec-

ommendation.  The proposed project is a mixed-use district, with up to 35% being res-

idential. The Village wants to improve segments of Highway 14 but, because they 

have to follow the 35% rule, they are outside the TIF district.  They would like the 

half-mile rule to take effect immediately so they can use some of the money to im-

prove those two road projects.  There are 3 areas where development is proposed.  One 

is a vacant grocery where the Village would like to bring in commercial development.  

The next is a residential condo area that is under foreclosure with the Sheriff’s Office 

in the December timeframe.  The Village hopes to bring in a new developer to finish 

the condos, with 52 units to be built.  Not much information regarding the developers 

was available.  The third area proposed for the TIF is industrial.  The Village is in ne-

gotiations with a developer but did not provide details.  The project plan is for $1.8 

million, but a budget hasn’t yet been provided.  Also, there are special assessments in-

volved, both for the road construction as well as with the new developer coming into 

the area.  Russell felt that Lanser’s comments with regard to the TIF are appropriately 

conservative.  We need to think about protecting the county from special assessments.  

Kilkenny agreed that Lanser’s concerns are good.  Supervisors Kilkenny/Stacey 

moved that Lanser, as the county’s representative on the Village of Whitewater’s 

TIF #1 Joint Review Board, not move to approve the TIF unless the county’s con-

cerns are adequately addressed and that Lanser approve recommendations the 

Village makes to address the concerns.  Motion carried 5-0. 
 



Walworth County Board 
Finance Committee Meeting Minutes September 22, 2011 
 

 
Page 9 of 9 

 Out-of-state travel:  

 Sheriff’s Office  

 Kurt Picknell & Dana Nigbor, FBI National Academy Annual Training Confer-

ence, Long Beach, CA — Russell asked why Picknell’s report shows that he par-

tially paid for the hotel but Nigbor’s doesn’t.  The committee requested that fur-

ther information be provided regarding the travel expenses. 

 

Correspondence — There was no correspondence presented. 

 

Confirmation of next Finance Committee meeting:  

 The next Finance Committee meeting was confirmed for Thursday, October 20, 2011 at 

9:30 a.m. in County Board Room 114 at the Government Center  

 

Adjournment of Finance Committee 

 

Upon motion and second by Supervisors Kilkenny and Schaefer, Chair Russell ad-

journed the meeting at approximately 11:52 a.m.; carried 5-0. 

 

Submitted by Kate Willett, recording secretary.  Minutes are not final until approved by the Fi-

nance Committee at its next regularly scheduled meeting. 

 

NOTE:  Items distributed at the Finance Committee meeting may be reviewed in the County 

Clerk’s Office. 














































































































